
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

WACO DIVISION 

AQTECH, INC, 

Plaintiff 

 v. 

LG ELECTRONICS, INC., 

Defendant 

Case No. 6:21-cv-00095 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT 

Plaintiff  AQTECH, Inc. (“AQTECH”). files this Complaint against LG 

Electronics, Inc. for infringement of  U.S. Patent No. 10,635,377. 

THE PARTIES 

1. AQTECH is a Texas company with its headquarters and principal place

of  business at 14425 Falcon Head Blvd, Building E, Austin, Texas 78738. 

2. Defendant LG is a corporation formed under the laws of  the Republic of

Korea, with its principal place of  business at LG Twin Towers 128, Yeoui-daero, 

Yeongdeungpo-gu, Seoul, South Korea 07336. Upon information and belief, LG does 

business in Texas, directly and through intermediaries, and offers its products, and 

services, including those accused herein of  infringement, to customers and potential 

customers located in Texas, including in the judicial Western District of  Texas. 
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3. Defendant has authorized sellers and sales representatives that offer and 

sell  products pertinent to this Complaint through the State of  Texas, including in this 

Judicial District, and to consumers throughout this Judicial District, by authorized 

retailers throughout this District, including stores in Austin, San Antonio, and El Paso 

such as: AT&T, 4330 W Waco Dr, Waco, Texas 76710; 2320 W Loop 340 #100A, Waco, 

Texas 76710; and 1428 Wooded Acres Dr #120, Waco, Texas 76710; TMobile, 2448 W 

Loop 340 Suite 24A, Waco, Texas 76711; 100 N New Rd Ste 110, Waco, Texas 76710; 

and 208 Hewitt Dr Suite #200, Waco, Texas 76712; and Verizon, 1820 S Valley Mills 

Dr, Waco, Texas 76711; 2812 W Loop 340 Suite# H-12, Waco, Texas 76711; and 5301 

Bosque Blvd Ste 120, Waco, Texas 76710. 
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https://www.lg.com/us/mobile-phones/v60-thinq-dual-
screen/specs#iw_comp1552886069288. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

4. This patent infringement suit is brought under the United States Patent 

Act, namely 35 U.S.C. §§ 271, 281, and 284-285, among other laws.  This Court has 

subject-matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a). 

5. Venue is proper in this Judicial District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1400(b) 

and 1391(b) and (c) because the Defendant is subject to personal jurisdiction in this 

Judicial District, has committed acts of  patent infringement in this Judicial District, and 

has a regular and established place of  business in this Judicial District. The Defendant, 

through its own acts, makes, uses, sells, and/or offers to sell infringing products within 

this Judicial District, regularly does and solicits business in this Judicial District, and has 

the requisite minimum contacts with the Judicial District such that this venue is a fair 

and reasonable one.  Further, venue is proper in this Judicial District because the 

Defendant is a foreign corporation formed under the laws of  Korea with a principal 

place of  business in Korea. 

AQTECH’S PATENT 

6. Sang Hoon Lee and Jim Hwa Kim invented the subject matter claimed in 

the asserted patent, which is owned by AQTECH.   

7. On April 28, 2020, the United States Patent duly and legally issued U.S. 

Patent No. 10,635,377 (the “’377 Patent”) titled “NFC-Enabled Apparatus and Method 
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of  Operation Thereof.”  A true and correct copy of  the is available at 

https://pdfpiw.uspto.gov/.piw?PageNum=0&docid=10635377. 

8. AQTECH holds all substantial rights in and to the ’377 patent including 

the exclusive right to sue for infringement and all rights to recover damages past and 

future infringement of  the ’377 Patent.   

9. LG has been on notice of  the ’377 Patent at least as early as the date it 

received service of  this complaint. 

10. The technologies of  the Patent-in-Suit generally covers apparatus and 

methods for providing capturing images for use in NFC-enabled transactions.  For 

example, the abstract of  the ’377 Patent describes the tagging of  data during an NFC 

transaction: 

 

LG’S INFRINGING PRODUCTS 

11. LG introduced LG Pay, an NFC contactless tap to pay feature available 

on its mobile phones.  LG describes LG Pay App on its website.  
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https://www.lg.com/us/lg-pay. 

12. LG published on its website the following description of  its LG Pay App 

and the ease and benefits of  using it and encourages its users to use its phones with the 

LG Pay App: 
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https://www.lg.com/us/lg-pay. 

13. LG’s products, including at least the LG K92 5G, LG Wing 5G, LG Velvet, 

LG V60 Thinq 5G Dual Screen, LG G8X ThinQ Dual Screen, LG V50ThinQ 5G, LG 

G8 ThinQ, LG V40 ThinQ, LG V35 ThinkQ, and LG G7 ThinkQ mobile phones 
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infringe the asserted patents (“Accused Products”).  LG makes, imports, sells, offers to 

sell, distributes, licenses, markets and/or uses Accused Products: 

 

https://www.lg.com/us/support/lgpay#supported-devices. 

14. LG provides detailed instructions regarding downloading and installing, 
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if  necessary, LG Pay App on the Accused Products. 

 

https://www.lg.com/us/support/lgpay#supported-devices. 

15. LG Pay provides detailed instructions regarding setting up LG Pay on the 

Accused Products. 

https://www.lg.com/us/support/lgpay#supported-devices. 

16. LG provides detailed instructions regarding using its LG Pay App on the 

Case 6:21-cv-00095   Document 1   Filed 01/29/21   Page 8 of 22



COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT PAGE | 9 

Accused Products. 

 

https://www.lg.com/us/support/lgpay#supported-devices. 

COUNT I 
INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 10,635,377 

17. Plaintiff  incorporates the above paragraphs herein by reference. 

18. The ’377 Patent is valid, enforceable, and was duly issued in full 

compliance with Title 35 of  the United States Code.  

19. AQTECH has not licensed or otherwise authorized LG to make, use, 

offer for sale, sell, or import any products that embody the ’377 Patent. 

20. LG infringes, contributes to the infringement of, and/or induces 

infringement of  the ’377 Patent in violation of  35 U.S.C. §§ 271 (a), (b), and/or (c) by 

making, using, selling, offering for sale, distributing, exporting from, and/or importing 

into the United States products and/or methods covered by one or more claims of  the 

’377 Patent, including, but not limited to the Accused Products.  
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21. LG has directly infringed and continues to directly infringe the ’377 

Patent, either literally or under the doctrine of  equivalents, without authority and in 

violation of  35 U.S.C. § 271, by making, using, offering to sell, selling and/or importing 

into the United States products that satisfy each and every limitation of  one or more 

claims of  the ’377 Patent.  Upon information and belief, these products include the 

Accused Products that practice the methods and systems covered by the ’377 Patent, 

including, for example, card NFC payment functionality implemented by LG Pay 

running on an LG device such as the representative LG V60 ThinQ.  For example, 

these infrastructures infringe at least claim 1 of  the ’377 Patent. 

22. Claim 1 of  the ’377 Patent recites: 

 1.  An NFC-enabled apparatus comprising: 

a camera; 

at least one memory configured to store a plurality of  selectable pieces of  

information and a plurality of  tag data; and 

a near field communication (NFC) module comprising an NFC antenna 

and an NFC controller, 

wherein the NFC-enabled apparatus is configured: 

to capture an image using the camera, 

to process the camera-captured image to obtain data relating to the 

camera-captured image, 
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to send, to at least one server, the data relating to the camera-

captured image, 

to receive, from the at least one server, a first tag datum 

corresponding to the data relating to the camera captured 

image, and 

to store the first tag datum in the at least one memory as part of  

the plurality of  tag data, 

wherein the NFC-enabled apparatus is configured to display at least one 

of  the selectable pieces of  information on the digital information 

display, 

wherein the NFC-enabled apparatus is configured to have a default setting 

for selecting a predetermined one of  the selectable pieces of  

information in the absence of  a user selection of  one of  the 

selectable pieces of  information, 

wherein, in response to a tagging between the NFC-enabled apparatus and 

a first external NFC-enabled terminal, and without a user selection 

of  one of  the selectable pieces of  information, the NFC-enabled 

apparatus is configured to cause a transfer of  a tag datum 

corresponding to the predetermined one of  the selectable pieces 

of  information from the NFC module to the first external NFC-
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enabled terminal via an NFC communication channel established 

between the NFC-enabled apparatus and the first external NFC-

enabled terminal, 

wherein the tag datum corresponding to the predetermined one of  the 

selectable pieces of  information comprises the first tag datum that 

corresponds to the data relating to the camera-captured image. 

23. For example, the Accused Products include NFC capability for 

performing NFC-enabled payment transactions. 

https://www.lg.com/us/lg-pay. 

24. The Accused Products include a camera: 
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https://www.lg.com/us/mobile-phones/v60-thinq-dual-
screen/assets/pdf/Specs_LG_V60_ThinQ_DualScreen_Generic_0316.pdf. 

25. The Accused Products include at least one memory configured to store a 

plurality of  selectable pieces of  information and a plurality of  tag data. 

 

https://www.lg.com/us/mobile-phones/v60-thinq-dual-
screen/specs#iw_comp1552886069288. 
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26. The Accused Products include a near field communication (NFC) module 

comprising an NFC antenna and an NFC controller for use with, among others, LG 

Pay App. 

 

https://www.lg.com/us/lg-pay. 

27. The Accused Products are configured as a digital wallet that allows users 

to provision credit cards in the digital wallet and perform NFC transactions using a 

default credit card in the wallet.  To provision a credit card in the LG Pay digital wallet, 

the camera of  the Accused Products is used to capture and image of  a credit card. 

 

https://www.lg.com/us/lg-pay#video-4 
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28. The Accused Products are configured to process the camera-captured 

image to obtain data relating to the camera-captured image.  When adding a credit card 

to the LG Pay digital wallet, the Accused Products automatically captures a picture of  

the credit card to be added.  The image of  the credit card is processed to extract data, 

such as the credit card number and the expiration date of  the credit card. 

29. The Accused Products are configured to send, to at least one server, the 

data relating to the camera-captured image.  When adding a credit card to the LG Pay 

digital wallet, the captured data is sent to a server such as a server operated by a payment 

network, such as Visa or Mastercard.   

30. The Accused Products are configured to receive, from the at least one 

server, a first tag datum corresponding to the data relating to the camera captured image 

and to store the first tag datum in the at least one memory as part of  the plurality of  

tag data. 

31. During card authorization, the credit card information becomes tokenized 

via a token that represents the credit card account number and corresponds to the 

camera captured data.  In one example, the token is generated by a token service 

operated by a payment network such as Visa or Mastercard.  The token is received by 

the Accused Products and stored in the memory of  the Accused Products.  The token 

is an exampled of  a tag datum that may be used in an NFC financial transaction. 

32. The Accused Products are configured to display at least one of  the 
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selectable pieces of  information on the digital information display.  For example, each 

credit card entered into the digital wallet is selectable information displayed by the 

Accused Products.  A user may use the default credit card or may select another credit 

card when performing an NFC financial transaction. 

 

https://www.lg.com/us/lg-pay#video-4. 

33. The Accused Products are configured to have a default setting for 

selecting a predetermined one of  the selectable pieces of  information in the absence 

of  a user selection of  one of  the selectable pieces of  information.  This credit card is 

used when performing an NFC transaction if  the user chooses not a select a credit card 

for use in the NFC transaction. 

34. In response to a tagging between the Accused Products and a first external 

NFC-enabled terminal, and without a user selection of  one of  the selectable pieces of  

Case 6:21-cv-00095   Document 1   Filed 01/29/21   Page 17 of 22



COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT PAGE | 18 

information, the NFC-enabled apparatus is configured to cause a transfer of  a tag 

datum corresponding to the 

predetermined one of  the selectable 

pieces of  information from the NFC 

module to the first external NFC-

enabled terminal via an NFC 

communication channel established 

between the NFC-enabled apparatus 

and the first external NFC-enabled 

terminal.  When making an NFC 

transaction, the user taps the phone on 

or near the NFC point of  sale 

terminal.  When the LG phone comes 

into close proximity to the NFC point 

of  sale terminal, the LG phone 

automatically sends the token 

corresponding to the default card as 

tag data to the point of  sale device.  

This tag data is transferred through an 

NFC communication channel 
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established between the LG phone and the point-of-sale device. 

35. During this NFC transaction, the tag datum corresponding to the 

predetermined one of  the selectable pieces of  information comprises the first tag 

datum that corresponds to the data relating to the camera-captured image. 

36. During an NFC transaction, the LG phone sends the token stored in the 

Accused Products to the point of  sale terminal.  This token is stored on the Accused 

Products during card authorization and corresponds to the camera captured image of  

the credit card that has been provisioned on the Accused Products.  Once tokenized, 

the primary account number of  the credit card is replaced by a token, which is stored 

in the memory of  the Accused Products. 

37. LG has had knowledge and notice of  the ’377 Patent at least as of  the 

filing date of  the Complaint. 

38. LG has indirectly infringed and continues to indirectly infringe one or 

more claims of  the ’377 Patent, as provided by 35 U.S.C. § 271(b), by inducing 

infringement by others, such as LG’s customers and end-users, in this District and 

elsewhere in the United States. For example, LG’s customers and end-users directly 

infringe, either literally or under the doctrine of  equivalents, through their use of  the 

inventions claimed in the ’377 Patent.  LG induces this direct infringement through its 

affirmative acts of  manufacturing, selling, distributing, and/or otherwise making 

available the Accused Products, and providing instructions, documentation, and other 
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information to customers and end-users suggesting that they use the Accused Products 

in an infringing manner, including technical support, marketing, product manuals, 

advertisements, and online documentation. Because of  LG’s inducement, LG’s 

customers and end-users use the Accused Products in a way LG intends and they 

directly infringe the ’377 Patent. LG performs these affirmative acts with knowledge of  

the ’377 Patent and with the intent, or willful blindness, that the induced acts directly 

infringe the ’377 Patent. 

39. LG has indirectly infringed and continues to indirectly infringe one or 

more claims of  the ’377 Patent, as provided by 35 U.S.C. § 271(c), by contributing to 

direct infringement by others, such as customers and end-users, in this District and 

elsewhere in the United States. LG’s affirmative acts of  selling and offering to sell the 

Accused Products in this District and elsewhere in the United States and causing the 

Accused Products to be manufactured, used, sold and offered for sale contributes to 

others’ use and manufacture of  the Accused Products such that the ’377 Patent is 

directly infringed by others. The accused components within the Accused Products are 

material to the invention of  the ’377 Patent, are not staple articles or commodities of  

commerce, have no substantial non-infringing uses, and are known by LG to be 

especially made or adapted for use in the infringement of  the ’377 Patent.  LG performs 

these affirmative acts with knowledge of  the ’377 Patent and with intent, or willful 

blindness, that they cause the direct infringement of  the ’377 Patent. 
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40. Because of  LG’s direct and indirect infringement of  the ’377 Patent, 

AQTECH has suffered, and will continue to suffer, damages in an amount to be proved 

at trial. 

41. Because of  LG’s direct and indirect infringement of  the ’377 Patent, 

AQTECH has suffered, and will continue to suffer, irreparable harm for which there is 

no adequate remedy at law, unless LG’s infringement is enjoined by this Court. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court enter judgment in 

favor of AQTECH and against LG: 

1. declaring that the Defendant has infringed the asserted patents; 

2. awarding Plaintiff its damages suffered as a result of Defendant’s 

infringement; 

3. awarding Plaintiff its costs, attorneys’ fees, expenses, and prejudgment and 

post-judgment interest; and 

4. granting Plaintiff such further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury of all issues so triable pursuant to Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 38. 

 
Dated:  January 29, 2021 Respectfully Submitted, 

By: /s/ Cabrach Connor  
Cabrach J. Connor  
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State Bar No. 24036390 
cab@connorkudlaclee.com 
John M. Shumaker 
State Bar No. 24033069 
Email: john@connorkudlaclee.com  
CONNOR KUDLAC LEE PLLC 
609 Castle Ridge Road, Suite 450 
Austin, Texas 78746 
512.777.1254 Telephone 
888.387.1134 Facsimile 
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF 
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